1 2 3 4 5 6	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/appellant, Saticoy Bay LLC Series 133 McLaren		Electronically Filed Aug 30 2019 11:03 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme (a.m
7				
8	SUPREME	COURT		
9	STATE OF 1			
10		 		
11	SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 133 McCLAREN,	No. 78661		
12	,			
13	Appellant,			
14	VS.			
15	GREEN TREE SERVICING LLC; THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON			
16	FKA THE BANK OF NEW YORK, AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO			
17	JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATE-

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENTxii
13 14	ROUTING STATEMENT
15	I. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
16 17	II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	III. STATEMENT OF FACTS
19 20	IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT7
21 22	V. STANDARD OF REVIEW
23	VI. ARGUMENT
242526	1. The deed of trust was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on November 22, 2013
27 28	2. Defendant Green Tree did not prove that the HOA's superpriority lien was paid prior to the public auction held on November 22, 2013
	:::

1 2	3.	Defendant Green Tree did not prove that the HOA or NAS wrongfully rejected the conditional tender of \$276.75 offered by Miles Bauer
		· ·
3	4.	Defendant Green Tree's failure to record notice of its claim that
4 5		the superpriority lien had been discharged made that claim void as to plaintiff
6	5.	The district court improperly granted defendant Green Tree
7		The district court improperly granted defendant Green Tree equitable relief from the conclusive recital of default in the foreclosure deed
8	6.	12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) does not apply to the present case because
9	0.	FHFA did not appear in or act in the case
10	7.	Defendant Green Tree did not prove that Fennie Mac complied
11	/.	Defendant Green Tree did not prove that Fannie Mae complied with Nevada law to hold any interest in the Property on the date
12		of the HOA foreclosure sale
13	8.	Defendant Green Tree's witnesses did not provide a proper
14		foundation to admit the computer screenshots upon which the witnesses based their testimony
15		
16 17	9.	Defendant Green Tree is bound by the conclusive presumptions created by the recorded deed of trust and corporation assignment of deed of trust
18		
19	10.	As a bona fide purchaser, plaintiff is protected from defendant Green Tree's unrecorded claim that Fannie Mae owned the deed
20		of trust that was assigned to defendant Green Tree
21	11.	Defendant Green Tree did not prove that it had standing to assert
22		Defendant Green Tree did not prove that it had standing to assert rights allegedly held by FHFA
23	VII. CONC	LUSION
24		
25	VIII. CERT	IFICATE OF COMPLIANCE55
26	IX. CERTII	FICATE OF SERVICE 57
27		
28		

1	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
2	CASES:
3	Nevada cases:
4 5	American Sterling Bank v. Johnny Management LV, Inc.,
6	126 Nev. 423, 245 P.3d 535 (2010)
7	AT&T Technologies, Inc. v. Reid, 109 Nev. 592, 855 P.2d 533 (1993) 25
8	
9	Bank of America, N.A. v. Ferrell Street Trust,
10	No. 70299, 416 P.3d 208 (Table), 2018 WL 2021560
11	(Nev. Apr. 27, 2018)(unpublished disposition)
12 13	Bank of America, N.A. v. Rugged Oaks Investments, LLC,
14	No. 68504, 383 P.3d 749 (Table), 2016 WL 5219841
15	(Nev. Sept. 16, 2016) (unpublished disposition)
1617	Bank of America, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 72,
18	427 P.3d 113 (2018) 16, 19-20, 24-25, 31, 32-33, 34-35, 35-36
19	Berge v. Fredericks, 95 Nev. 183, 591 P.2d 246 (1979)
	Blanton v. North Las Vegas Municipal Court,
2122	103 Nev. 623, 748 P.2d 494 (1987)
23	Buhecker v. R.B. Petersen & Sons Const. Co., Inc.,
24	112 Nev. 1498, 929 P.2d 937 (1996)
2526	Conley v. Chedic, 6 Nev. 222 (1870)
27	County of Washoe v. City of Reno, 77 Nev. 152, 360 P.2d 602 (1961) 37
28	

1	Custom Cabinet Factory of New York, Inc. v. District Ct.,
2	119 Nev. 51, 62 P.3d 741 (2003)
3	Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon,
4 5	128 Nev., Adv. Op. 48, 285 P.3d 249 (2012)
6	Evans v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev. 598, 5 P.3d 1043 (2000) 8
7	Hamm v. Arrowcreek Homeowners' Ass'n,
8	124 Nev. 290, 183 P.3d 895 (2008)
10	Hardy Cos., Inc. v. SNMARK, LLC,
11	126 Nev. 528, 245 P.3d 1149 (2010)
12 13	Horizons at Seven Hills v. Ikon Holdings,
13	132 Nev., Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d 66 (2016)
15	Houston v. Bank of America Federal Savings Bank,
16	119 Nev. 485, 78 P.3d 71 (2003)
17 18	<u>Laffranchini v. Clark</u> , 39 Nev. 48, 153 P. 250 (1915)
	Las Vegas Valley Water District v. Curtis Park Manor Water Users Ass'n,
20	98 Nev. 275, 646 P.2d 549 (1982)
2122	Leyva v. National Default Servicing Corp.,
23	127 Nev. 470, 255 P.3d 1275 (2011)
24	Locken v. Locken 98 Nev. 369, 650 P.2d 803 (1982)
25	May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 119 P.3d 1254 (2005)
2627	McCarran Int'l Airport v. Sisolak,
28	122 Nev. 645, 137 P.3d 1110 (2006)
	:

1	In re Monteirth (Montierth v. Deutsche Bank),
2	131 Nev. Adv. Op. 55, 354 P.3d 648 (2015)
3	Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC,
5	133 Nev., Adv. Op. 34, 396 P.3d 754 (2017)
6	In re Nevada State Engineer Ruling No. 5823,
7	128 Nev. 232, 277 P.3d 449 (2012)
9	Occhiuto v. Occhiuto 97 Nev. 143, 625 P.2d 568 (1981)
10	Pasillas v. HSBC Bank USA, 127 Nev. 462, 255 P.3d 1281 (2011) 30
11 12	Public Employees' Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
13	<u>Dep't</u> , 124 Nev. 138, 179 P.3d 542 (2008)
14	Roberts v. Hummel,69 Nev. 154, 243 P.2d 248 (1952)
15	Rosenbaum v. Rosenbaum, 86 Nev. 550, 471 P.2d 254 (1970)
16 17	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9641 Christine View v. Federal National Mortgage
18	Ass'n, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 36, 417 P.3d 363 (2018)
19	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2141 Golden Hill v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A.,
2021	408 P.3d 558 (Table), 2017 WL 6597154 (Nev. Dec. 22, 2017)
22	(unpublished disposition)14-15
23	Schwartz v. Schwartz, 95 Nev. 202, 591 P.2d 1137 (1979)
24	SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,
2526	130 Nev. 742, 334 P.3d 408 (2014)
27	///
28	

1	SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
2	No. 70471, 2018 WL 6609670 (Table) (Dec. 13, 2018)
3	(unpublished disposition)
5	Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp,
6	<u>Inc.</u> , 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016) 35, 36, 52-53, 54
7	<u>Sherman v. Clark</u> , 4 Nev. 138 (1868)
8	State v. Second Judicial District Court, 49 Nev. 145, 241 P. 317 (1925) 37
10	<u>Turley v. Thomas</u> , 31 Nev. 181, 101 P. 568 (1909)
11	25 Corp. v. Eisenman Chemical Co., 101 Nev. 664, 709 P.2d 164 (1985) 52
12 13	Federal and other cases:
	Acierno v. Worthy Bros. Pipeline Corp., 656 A.2d 1085 (Del. 1995) 12
15	American Surety Co., v. Bethlehem National Bank,
16 17	314 U.S. 314 (1941)
18	Berezovsky v. Moniz, 869 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2017)
19	Butner v. United States, 440 U.S. 48 (1979)
20	Dietrich Industries, Inc. v. United States, 988 F.2d 568 (5th Cir. 1993) 27
21 22	In Re Faulkiner, 594 B.R. 426 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2018)
	Firato v. Tuttle, 48 Cal.2d 136, 308 P.2d 333 (1957)
24	First Nat. Bank of Davis v. Britton, 94 P.2d 896 (Okla. 1939)
2526	Han v. United States, 944 F.2d 526 (9th Cir. 1991)
	High v. Ignacio, 408 F.3d 585 (9th Cir. 2005)
28	

1	Hohn v. Morrison, 870 P.2d 513 (Colo. App. 1993)
2	Hopkins Mfg. Co. v. Ketterer, 84 A. 421 (Pa. 1912)
3	MGIC Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co.,
5	600 P.2d 573 (Wash. App. 1979)
6	Moeller v. Lien, 25 Cal. App. 4th 822, 30 Cal. Rptr. 777 (1994)
7	Nguyen v. Calhoun, 105 Cal. App. 4th 428, 129 Cal. Rptr. 2d 436 (2003) 10
9	O'Brien v. Skinner, 414 U.S. 524 (1974)
10	Paddack v. Dave Christensen, Inc., 745 F.2d 1254(9th Cir. 1984)
11 12	Pep'e v. McCarthy,
13	249 A.D.2d 286, 672 N.Y.S.2d 350 (N.Y. App. 1998)
14	Power Transmission Equip. Corp. v. Beloit Corp.,
15	201 N.W. 2d 13 (Wis. 1972)
16 17	Putnam v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 352 U.S. 82 (1956) 27-28
18	Shipman v Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
19	2012 WL 642777 (D. Nev. Feb. 24, 2012)
2021	Smith v. School Dist. No. 64 Marion County,
22	131 P. 557 (Kan. 1913)
23	Smith v. United States, 373 F.2d 419 (4th Cir. 1966)
24	Streiff v. Darlington, 9 Cal. 2d 42, 68 P.2d 728 (1937)
2526	Strike v. Trans-West Discount Corp.,
27	155 Cal. Rptr. 132 (Cal App. 1979)
28	

1	<u>Tai-Si Kim v. Kearney</u> , 838 F. Supp. 2d 1077 (D. Nev. 2012)
2	Trueman Fertilizer Co. v. Allison, 81 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1955)
3	U-Haul Int'l, Inc. v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co.,
5	576 F3d 1040 (9th Cir. 2009)
	STATUTES AND RULES:
7 8	NRCP 811
	NRS 40.010
10	NRS 47.240
	NRS 50.025
12 13	NRS 51.135
	NRS 111.010
15	NRS 111.205
16	NRS 111.315
1 /	NRS 111.325 30, 46, 53, 54
19	NRS 116.1104
20	NRS 116.1108
21	NRS 116.3102
	NRS 116.3116
	NRS 116.31164
2526	NRS 116.31166
	12 U.S.C. § 4502
28	

1	12 U.S.C. § 4617
2	OTHER AUTHORITIES:
3	Annot., Necessity of Keeping Tender Good in Equity, 12 A.L.R. 938 (1921) 36
5	Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)
6	CCICCH, Advisory Opinion No. 2010-01 (Dec. 8, 2010)
7	59 C.J.S. Mortgages § 582
9	Fannie Mae Single Family Servicing Guide
10	Report of the Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts,
11	The Six-Month Limited Priority Lien for Association Fees Under
12 13	the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (June 1, 2013)
14	McCormick on Evidence § 308 (E. Cleary 3d ed. 1984)
15	1 Grant S. Nelson, Dale A. Whitman, Ann M. Burkhart & R. Wilson
16 17	Freyermuth, Real Estate Finance Law (6th ed. 2014) 52
	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages § 5.4(1997)
19	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages § 6.4(1997) 28-29, 32, 33-34
20	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages §7.1 (1997)
21 22	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages §7.6 (1997)
	Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act
	Uniform Commercial Code
25 26	///
27	(/ /
28	

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the HOA foreclosure sale extinguished the deed of trust assigned to Green Tree Servicing LLC (hereinafter "defendant Green Tree").
- 2. Whether the superpriority portion of the assessment lien recorded by Nevada Association Services, Inc. (hereinafter "NAS") on behalf of Hillpointe Park Maintenance (hereinafter "HOA") was paid prior to November 22, 2013.
- 3. Whether the HOA or NAS wrongfully rejected the conditional tender of \$276.75 offered by Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP (hereinafter "Miles Bauer") on behalf of Bank of America, N.A. on December 16, 2011.
- 4. Whether defendant Green Tree was required to record notice of its claim that the HOA's rejection of Miles Bauer's conditional tender discharged the HOA's superpriority lien.
- 5. Whether the district court improperly granted defendant Green Tree equitable relief from the conclusive recital of default in the foreclosure deed.
- 6. Whether 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) applies to the present case and protected the deed of trust from being extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale.
- 7. Whether the Federal National Mortgage Association (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") complied with Nevada law to hold an enforceable interest in the real property

commonly known as 133 McLaren Street, Henderson, Nevada (hereinafter "Property") on the date of the HOA foreclosure sale.

- 8. Whether defendant Green Tree provided a proper foundation to admit the computer screenshots upon which defendant's witnesses based their testimony.
- 9. Whether defendant Green Tree is bound by the conclusive presumptions created by the recorded deed of trust and corporate assignment of deed of trust.
- 10. Whether Saticoy Bay LLC Series 133 McLaren (hereinafter "plaintiff") is protected as a bona fide purchaser from the unrecorded claim that Fannie Mae owned the deed of trust that was publicly assigned to defendant Green Tree.
- 11. Whether defendant Green Tree has standing to assert rights granted only to the Federal Housing Finance Agency (hereinafter "FHFA").
- 12. Following a trial, questions of law are reviewed de novo. Findings of fact must be upheld if supported by substantial evidence and may not be set aside unless clearly erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 2, 2014, plaintiff filed its complaint asserting three claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting defendants from foreclosing a deed of trust recorded on November 23, 2004 against the Property; 2) entry of a judgment

pursuant to NRS 40.010 determining that plaintiff was the rightful owner of the Property and that the defendants had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendants be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property. (JA1, pgs. 1-7)

On April 7, 2014, National Default Servicing Corporation (hereinafter "NDSC") filed an answer to plaintiff's complaint. (JA1, pgs. 15-19)

On April 23, 2014, plaintiff and NDSC filed a stipulation for non-monetary relief. (JA1, pgs. 20-22)

On June 25, 2015, defendant Green Tree filed a first amended verified answer and counterclaim. (JA1, pgs. 28-46)

On July 14, 2015, plaintiff filed an answer to defendant Green Tree's counterclaim. (JA1, pgs. 47-51)

On November 16, 2015, The Bank of New York Mellon fka The Bank of New York, as Successor Trustee to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Trustee for the Certificateholders of CWABS Master Trust, Revolving Home Equity Loan Asset Backed Notes, Series 2004-T (hereinafter "defendant BONY") filed an answer to plaintiff's complaint. (JA1, pgs. 56-63)

On November 24, 2015, NAS filed an answer to defendant Green Tree's counterclaim. (JA1, pgs. 64-68)

On October 16, 2016, the HOA filed an answer to defendant Green Tree's counterclaim. (JA1, pgs. 69-83)

On December 13, 2018, the parties filed a joint pretrial memorandum that included stipulated facts. (JA1, pgs. 90-106)

On January 29, 2019, plaintiff filed plaintiff's 7.27 pre-trial memorandum. (JA1, pgs. 107-136)

The court conducted a bench trial on January 28, 2019 (JA1, pg.176 to JA2, pg. 317) and January 29, 2019. (JA2, pgs. 318-453)

On January 31, 2019, defendant Green Tree and NAS filed a stipulation and order for dismissal of NAS without prejudice. (JA1, pgs. 137-139)

On February 1, 2019, defendant Green Tree and the HOA filed a stipulation and order for dismissal of the HOA without prejudice. (JA1, pgs. 140-142)

On March 25, 2019, the court entered a judgment following non-jury trial in favor of defendants and against plaintiff. (JA1, pgs. 157-162)

Notice of entry of the judgment following non-jury trial was served and filed on March 25, 2019. (JA1, pgs. 163-170)

On April 22, 2019, plaintiff filed its notice of appeal. (JA1, pgs. 171-172)

On April 22, 2019, plaintiff filed a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice of defendants Charles J. Wight and Tara J. Wight (hereinafter "former owners"). (JA1, pgs. 173-175)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 26, 2013, NAS recorded a foreclosure deed stating that it sold the Property to plaintiff for \$10,200.00 on November 22, 2013. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶18)

The foreclosure sale arose from a delinquency in assessments due from the former owners to the HOA pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

Defendant Green Tree is the beneficiary by assignment of a deed of trust recorded against the Property on November 23, 2004. (JA1, pg. 91, ¶4) A corporate assignment of deed of trust by MERS to defendant Green Tree was recorded on May 28, 2013. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶6)

Defendant BONY is the beneficiary by assignment of a second deed of trust recorded against the Property on November 23, 2004. (JA1, pgs. 91-92, ¶5) An assignment of deed of trust by MERS to defendant BONY was recorded on October 29, 2013. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶7)

On January 14, 2011, NAS recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien as

agent for the HOA. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶9)

On September 9, 2011, NAS recorded a notice of default and election to sell. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶10)

On September 19, 2011, the foreclosure agent mailed copies of the notice of default to the former owners, MERS, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and other interested parties. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶11)

On October 29, 2013, the foreclosure agent recorded a notice of foreclosure sale. (JA1, pg. 92, ¶12)

On October 29, 2013, the foreclosure agent mailed copies of the notice of foreclosure sale to the former owners, MERS, defendant Green Tree, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and other interested parties. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶13)

On October 29, 2013, a copy of the notice of foreclosure sale was served upon the former owners by posting a copy of the notice in a conspicuous place on the Property on October 29, 2013. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶14)

On October 31, 2013, copies of the notice of foreclosure sale were posted in three public places in Clark County, Nevada. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶15)

On October 31, 2013, copies of the notice of foreclosure sale were posted in three public places in Henderson, Nevada. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶16)

The notice of foreclosure sale was published in the Nevada Legal News on November 1, 2013, November 8, 2013, and November 15, 2013. (JA1, pg. 93, ¶17)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The deed of trust was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on November 22, 2013.

Defendant Green Tree did not prove that the HOA's superpriority lien was paid prior to the public auction held on November 22, 2013.

Defendant Green Tree did not prove that the HOA or NAS wrongfully rejected the conditional tender of \$276.75 offered by Miles Bauer.

Defendant Green Tree's failure to record notice of its claim that the superpriority lien had been discharged made that claim void as to plaintiff.

The district court improperly granted defendant Green Tree equitable relief from the conclusive recital of default in the foreclosure deed.

12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) does not apply to the present case because FHFA did not appear in or act in the case.

Defendant Green Tree did not prove that Fannie Mae complied with Nevada law to hold any interest in the Property on the date of the HOA foreclosure sale.

Defendant Green Tree's witnesses did not provide a proper foundation to

admit the computer screenshots upon which the witnesses based their testimony.

Defendant Green Tree is bound by the conclusive presumptions created by the recorded deed of trust and corporate assignment of deed of trust.

As a bona fide purchaser, plaintiff is protected from defendant Green Tree's unrecorded claim that Fannie Mae owned the deed of trust that was assigned to defendant Green Tree.

Defendant Green Tree did not prove that it had standing to assert rights allegedly held by FHFA.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Following a trial, questions of law are reviewed de novo. <u>Evans v. Dean</u> Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev. 598, 5 P.3d 1043, 1048 (2000).

Findings of fact must be upheld if supported by substantial evidence and may not be set aside unless clearly erroneous. May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005).

ARGUMENT

1. The deed of trust was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on November 22, 2013.

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