IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 133 McLAREN,

Appellant,

VS.

GREEN TREE SERVICING, LLC; THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON F/K/A THE BANK OF NEW YORK, AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF CWABS MASTER TRUST REVOLVING HOME EQUITY LOAN ASSET BACKED NOTES, SERIES 2004-T,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 30 2019 05:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 78661

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXX
The Honorable Jerry Wiese, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-14-693882-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's decision should be upheld because it correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Ditech on the ground that BANA's tender extinguished the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien. The ruling below can easily be affirmed under *Bank of America*, *N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 427 P.3d 113 (2018), as amended on denial of reh'g (Nov. 13, 2018) (*Bank of America*). In *Bank of America*, this Court confirmed that the delivery of a check in an amount

sufficient to pay the superpriority portion of the association's lien "cure[s] the default and prevent[s] foreclosure as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien by operation of law." 427 P.3d at 116. The check in *Bank of America* was accompanied by precisely the same cover letter at issue in this case, and this Court held that it did not contain any impermissible conditions. *Id.* at 118. *Bank of America* controls here.

Saticoy Bay's efforts to avoid application of *Bank of America* fall flat, and in fact, involve arguments that this Court squarely rejected in that case. For example, Saticoy Bay argues that the letter accompanying Bank of America's check was impermissibly conditional, but there is no basis in the record that the alleged "conditions" played any role in NAS's rejection of the tender. Saticoy Bay's retroactive attempts to conjure objections that NAS or the HOA might have made to the terms of the tender are speculation. But more importantly, Saticoy Bay's attempt to insert "conditions" into BANA's tender letter is the result of its misrepresentation of the letter's contents by selectively quoting certain portions of the letter. Similarly, Saticoy Bay's efforts to invoke equitable considerations or the HOA's alleged good faith rejection of the tender in order to negate the legal effect of the tender also fail as a matter of law. This Court confirmed in *Bank of America* that neither equitable principles nor the HOA's rejection of BANA's tender (in good faith or otherwise) affects the validity of the tender.

But the Court should also find that the district court erred in finding Ditech's evidence insufficient to invoke the Federal Foreclosure Bar. Under *Daisy Tree* and many of this Court's other decisions in similar cases, the district court's ruling that Ditech had not sufficiently supported the Federal Foreclosure Bar's application is incorrect. The Court should affirm the judgment in Ditech's favor on the alternative ground that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected the deed of trust from extinguishment. The district court's ruling that the evidence was not "competent" or sufficient to establish Fannie Mae's interest in the deed of trust, 1 APP 000157–60, is most properly viewed as a legal conclusion subject to de novo review. Nevertheless, given that Ditech's evidence was probative, admissible, credible, and material to the issue, the district court's finding on this issue would be reversible under any standard.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's findings of fact to see if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Cty. of Clark v. Sun State Properties, Ltd.*, 72 P.3d 954, 957 (Nev. 2003); *see also In re Estate of Bethurem*, 313 P.3d 237, 242 (Nev. 2013) (findings of fact reviewed for substantial evidence.) "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion," *Jones v. SunTrust Mortg., Inc.*, 274 P.3d 762, 764 (Nev. 2012) (internal quotation

marks omitted). A district court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Cty. of Clark*, 72 P.3d at 957; *Paige v. State*, 995 P.2d 1020, 1021 (Nev. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Entered Judgment in Ditech's Favor Due to BANA's Tender of the Superpriority Amount.

The district court correctly ruled that the deed of trust survived the HOA sale because BANA's tender of the superpriority amount extinguished that portion of the HOA lien. In *Bank of America*, this Court confirmed that BANA's delivery of a check in an amount sufficient to pay the superpriority portion of an association's lien extinguished the lien and caused the purchaser to take title subject to the deed of trust. 427 P.3d at 121. This case is nearly identical to *Bank of America*, and the district court correctly applied it here. *See id*.

On appeal, Saticoy Bay raises five primary arguments that BANA's tender was ineffective to cure the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien: (1) BANA's tender was not effective because the HOA rejected the tender based on a good faith belief that the superpriority amount included collection costs, (2) BANA's tender was conditional, (3) BANA was required to record its tender to be effective because Saticoy Bay is a bona fide purchaser, (4) the foreclosure deed's recitals invalidate

BANA's tender and (5) equitable relief is inappropriate because BANA can pursue damages against the HOA.⁵ None of these arguments has merit.

A. BANA's Tender Extinguished the HOA's Superpriority Lien.

In Bank of America, BANA delivered a check to the homeowners association's agent in an amount sufficient to pay nine months of assessments, along with a letter, nearly identical in wording to the Miles Bauer letter at issue here, that the association's acceptance of the check constituted an "express agreement that [BANA's] financial obligations toward the [association] in regards to the [property at issue] have now been 'paid in full.'" Id. at 116. The Nevada Supreme Court held that, despite the agent's rejection of BANA's check, the tender operated to discharge the superpriority lien. Id. at 118. The Court expressly rejected the argument that the tender was invalid because it did not cover the association's entire lien, as it was sufficient to pay the full statutory superpriority amount. *Id.* at 118–19. In so holding, the Court explicitly rejected the purchaser's arguments that BANA was required to record its tender, holding that "[b]y its plain text, NRS 111.315 does not apply to [BANA's] tender." Bank of America, 427 P.3d at 119.

Saticoy Bay also halfheartedly argues that Ditech waived its tender defense by failing to plead it as an affirmative defense. AOB 11. Saticoy Bay failed to present this argument in the district court, and as a result, it has been waived. *See*, *e.g.*, *Old Aztec Mine*, *Inc. v. Brown*, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (Nev. 1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.").

Here, just as in *Bank of America*, BANA (through its counsel at Miles Bauer) tendered payment for the HOA's superpriority lien. After receiving the Notice of Default, Miles Bauer sent NAS a letter that offered to pay the superpriority portion. 1 SA 0177–78; 1 APP 000221–22. After NAS failed to respond, Miles Bauer used a Statement of Account for a different property within the HOA that identified the monthly assessment amount for the relevant period as \$92.25 quarterly (or \$30.75) monthly). 1 SA 0180; 1 APP 000222-24. At trial, the HOA's representative confirmed that this was the correct quarterly amount for the property.⁶ 2 APP 000241. In December 2011, prior to the HOA sale, Miles Bauer sent NAS a check for \$276.75, an amount equal to nine months of assessments, along with a letter explaining that BANA "has authorized [Miles Bauer] to make payment to [NAS] in the amount of \$276.75 to satisfy [BANA's] obligations to the HOA as a holder of the first deed of trust against the [P]roperty." 1 SA 0183–85; see also 1 APP 000223– 28 (Miles Bauer trial testimony). This amount equaled nine months of monthly assessments and exceeded the six-month superpriority amount of \$184.50 for a Fannie Mae-owned loan. See NRS 116.3116 (3)(c).

NAS refused delivery of the check but did not provide a reason for doing so. *See* 1 SA 0187–91; 1 APP 000223. Notably, Saticoy Bay does not dispute that the

It is undisputed that there were no nuisance and abatement charges for the Property prior to the HOA Sale. *See* 2 APP 000418; 1 SA 0180.

amount of BANA's check covered the full superpriority portion of the HOA lien, or that NAS received BANA's tender check. *See* AOB 11 (noting check was rejected by NAS). As the Nevada Supreme Court has confirmed, NAS and the HOA's rejection of BANA's check does not negate the legal effect of BANA's tender. *Bank of America*, 427 P.3d at 120. As a result, BANA's tender of an amount equal to nine months of monthly assessments was sufficient to extinguish the superpriority portion of the HOA lien.

B. BANA's Tender Did Not Fail on Account of Any Purported Conditions.

Saticoy Bay separately argues that BANA's tender contained impermissible conditions relating to the HOA's acceptance of the "facts" stated in Miles Bauer's tender letter, and therefore, was ineffective to extinguish the superpriority portion of the HOA lien. This argument has also been squarely rejected by this Court's binding precedent in *Bank of America*. *See* 427 P.3d at 118.

The Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly analyzed the very language of the Miles Bauer letter at issue in this case and concluded that the conditions in the letter were conditions upon which BANA had a right to insist, and thus the delivery of the check was a valid tender. In evaluating a materially identical communication accompanying a check in the *Bank of America* case, the Court held that the "condition" with a tender that "acceptance of the tender would satisfy the

superpriority portion of the lien" and "preserv[e] [BANA's] interest in the property" was a valid condition upon which BANA "had a right to insist." 427 P.3d at 118.

Although Saticoy Bay does not assert there were actually any nuisance-abatement or maintenance charges or that NAS ever raised any objection concerning such charges, it argues that the Miles Bauer tender was nevertheless invalid on the basis that it linked the HOA's acceptance of the check to agreement with BANA's interpretation of NRS 116.3116, alleging that the letter asserts that the HOA was only entitled to be compensated for nine months of delinquent HOA assessments and nothing further. AOB 16–24. However, Saticoy Bay's argument is based on a selective, misleading quotation of the Miles Bauer letter.

Both Miles Bauer's initial letter offering to pay the superpriority portion of the lien and the subsequent letter enclosing the tender check specifically (and correctly) note which charges were *not* given superpriority status under NRS 116.3116:

While the HOA may claim a lien under NRS 116.3102 Subsection (1), Paragraphs (j) through (n) of this Statute clearly provide that such a lien is JUNIOR to first deeds of trust to the extent the lien is for fees and charges imposed for collection and/or attorney fees, collection costs, late fees, services charges and interest.

1 SA 0184 (emphasis added). That was exactly right; the superpriority amount of the lien does not include "fees and charges imposed for collection and/or attorney fees, collection costs, late fees, service charges and interest" associated with delinquent

assessment liens. That was the very point of *Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Association v. Ikon Holdings, LLC*, 373 P.3d 66 (Nev. 2016).

Saticoy Bay would like the Miles Bauer letter to have stated that the HOA's lien was "junior to the extent it included charges and fees associated with nuisance abatement and maintenance under NRS 116.310312." Indeed, that statement would have been incorrect, as the Nevada Supreme Court indicated in *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., as Trustee*, 334 P.3d 408, 411 (Nev. 2014) and *Ikon Holdings*, 373 P.3d at 69. While that likely would not have made a difference here, because neither the HOA nor NAS mentioned a concern about nuisance abatement charges, it is at least conceivable that someone could have objected to the misinterpretation of the statute. But that is not what the letters say, no matter how badly Saticoy Bay wants to misread them.

As the Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly concluded, any conditions in Miles Bauer's letter were conditions upon which Miles Bauer had the right to insist. Saticoy Bay's retroactive efforts to gin up objections to BANA's tender fail.

C. The Bona Fide Purchaser Doctrine Has No Relevance to BANA's Tender.

Saticoy Bay erroneously argues that BANA's tender was ineffective on the basis of the bona fide purchaser defense. AOB 37–38. In *Bank of America*, this Court held that "[a] party's status as a BFP is irrelevant when a defect in the foreclosure proceeding renders the sale void." 427 P.3d at 121. The Court specifically applied

that rule to the situation of a tender to an HOA for the superpriority portion of its lien: "Because [BANA's] valid tender discharged the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien, the HOA's foreclosure on the entire lien resulted in a void sale as to the superpriority portion. Accordingly, the HOA could not convey full title to the property, as [BANA's] first deed of trust remained after foreclosure." *Id*.

There is no authority to support Saticoy Bay's notion that a discharged lien springs back into existence if an HOA sale purchaser can qualify as a bona fide purchaser. Thus, Saticoy Bay's purported status as a bona fide purchaser is irrelevant where, as here, BANA's tender voided the superpriority portion of the HOA lien. The bona fide purchaser defense cannot validate a void sale. *See Bank of America*, 427 P.3d at 121.

D. No Notice of BANA's Tender Had to Be Recorded.

Saticoy Bay also contends that its title to the property cannot be encumbered by the deed of trust because the tender was not recorded. AOB 24–34. The crux of Saticoy Bay's argument seems to be that BANA's tender subrogated the HOA's superpriority lien to BANA, rather than extinguishing that portion of the lien.⁸ *See*

As set forth below, Saticoy Bay is not a bona fide purchaser. *See* discussion *infra* Section II(D)(1).

Even if Saticoy Bay were correct (it is not) that the tender resulted in an assignment of the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien, this would not help its appeal. If the superpriority portion had been assigned to BANA before the

id. The argument is underdeveloped (mainly consisting of quotations from the restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages), and can be disregarded on that basis alone. However, it would be a non-starter even if adequately developed.

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